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● (1545)

[Translation]
The Chair (Mr. Peter Schiefke (Vaudreuil—Soulanges,

Lib.)): I call this meeting to order.

Welcome to the fourth meeting of the Standing Committee on
Transport, Infrastructure and Communities. Today's meeting is in
hybrid format, pursuant to order made by the House on Thursday,
November 25, 2021. Members of the committee may participate in
person or via the Zoom application.

I will take this opportunity to remind all participants and ob‐
servers of this meeting that taking screen shots or photos of your
screen is not permitted.
[English]

Given the ongoing pandemic situation, and in light of the recom‐
mendations from public health authorities as well as the directive of
the Board of Internal Economy on January 28, 2022, to remain
healthy and safe, the following is recommended for all those at‐
tending the meeting in person.

Anyone with symptoms should participate by Zoom and not at‐
tend the meeting in person. Everyone must maintain two-metre
physical distancing whether seated or standing. Everyone must
wear a non-medical mask when circulating in the room. It is recom‐
mended, in the strongest possible terms, that members wear their
masks at all times, including when seated. Non-medical masks,
which provide better clarity over cloth masks, are available in the
room. Everyone present must maintain proper hand hygiene by us‐
ing the hand sanitizer at the room entrance. Committee rooms are
cleaned before and after each meeting. To maintain this, everyone
is encouraged to clean surfaces such as the desk, chair and micro‐
phone with the provided disinfectant wipes when vacating or taking
a seat.

As the chair, I will be enforcing these measures for the duration
of the meeting, and I thank members in advance for their co-opera‐
tion.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Monday, January 31, 2022, the committee is meeting
to study railway safety.

We have two panels today.

Witnesses appearing in the first panel are from the Canadian
Transportation Accident Investigation and Safety Board. We have
Kathleen Fox, the chair, as well as André Lapointe, chief operating
officer.

For the second panel, we have from the City of Calgary, Gian-
Carlo Carra, city councillor; Chris J. Apps, director of the Kitselas
Lands and Resources Department, Kitselas First Nation; and repre‐
senting the Teamsters Canada Rail Conference, we have Lyndon
Isaak, president.

As I said, the committee will be continuing its study of railway
safety and the impacts of rail operations on neighbouring communi‐
ties and properties. Members have agreed that witnesses be given
five minutes for their opening statements and, wherever possible,
that witnesses provide the committee with their opening statements
72 hours in advance.

Ms. Fox and Monsieur Lapointe, welcome to the Standing Com‐
mittee on Transport, Infrastructure and Communities.

We will now begin by turning over the floor to you for your
opening remarks.

[Translation]

Ms. Kathleen Fox (Chair, Canadian Transportation Accident
Investigation and Safety Board): Mr. Chair, members of the com‐
mittee, good afternoon.

Thank you for inviting the Transportation Safety Board of
Canada, or TSB, to discuss the important topic of rail safety.

[English]

As you know, our mandate and sole purpose is to advance trans‐
portation safety in the air, marine, pipeline and rail modes that are
under federal jurisdiction by conducting independent investiga‐
tions; identifying safety deficiencies, causes and contributing fac‐
tors; making recommendations; and publishing our reports.

[Translation]

The TSB is independent, and operates at arm’s length from other
government departments and agencies. We report to Parliament
through the President of the Queen's Privy Council for Canada.
This lets us be impartial, free from any real or perceived external
influence.

It is also important to clarify what the TSB does not do. We do
not assign fault, nor do we determine civil or criminal liability.
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[English]

Rail safety continues to be top of mind for the TSB. I’d like to
start by sharing some rail safety statistics. According to the TSB's
annual report in 2020, 1,192 rail occurrences were reported to the
TSB, including 965 accidents and 227 incidents. Of these, the 965
accidents represent a 23% decrease from 2019 and an 11% decrease
from the 10-year average.

The main-track accident rate in 2020 was 2.7 accidents per mil‐
lion main-track train miles, down from 3.3 in 2019 but above the
10-year average of 2.4. A total of 59 rail fatalities were reported.
Two of these involved railway employees; 39 were trespasser fatal‐
ities and 18 were crossing accident fatalities.

Regarding railway crossings, we recently launched an in-depth
safety investigation to examine factors contributing to an observed
increase in the rate of accidents involving motor vehicles, specifi‐
cally during the winter months.

We will issue our preliminary 2021 statistics shortly and would
be pleased to table these data with the committee when available. I
will mention that, sometimes, previous years' stats change as a re‐
sult of re-categorization or re-examination, so there may be some
differences from the numbers I gave you today.

We are in the process of updating progress on the TSB’s Watch‐
list 2020, which outlines the key issues that need to be addressed to
make Canada’s transportation system even safer. The current list in‐
cludes two rail-specific issues: following signal indications, where‐
in train crews do not consistently recognize and follow railway sig‐
nals, which poses a risk of train collisions or derailments; and un‐
controlled movements, which can create high-risk situations with
catastrophic consequences, particularly if they involve dangerous
goods, as was seen in Lac-Mégantic. In 2020, there were 50 occur‐
rences involving an uncontrolled movement of rolling stock, down
from 2019, when there were 78 such occurrences.

Other watch-list issues affecting rail safety include the multi‐
modal issues of fatigue management in freight train operations,
safety management and regulatory surveillance. While safety man‐
agement systems have been required for federally regulated rail‐
ways since 2001, our investigations have identified numerous
shortcomings, where hazards were not identified and effective risk
mitigation measures were not taken. Furthermore, Transport
Canada’s follow-up and intervention are not always effective at
identifying and changing unsafe railway operating practices.

Since we were created in 1990, the board has issued 149 recom‐
mendations to regulators and the rail industry. As of September 30,
2021, 91.3% of the responses to these rail recommendations have
received the board’s highest rating of “fully satisfactory”.

However—and I want to emphasize this—there is still much that
can be done to improve rail safety, especially with respect to the is‐
sues that underpin our watch-list. The oldest active outstanding rail
recommendation dates back to 2013, and we're just starting the an‐
nual reassessment process of progress made on outstanding recom‐
mendations. We will provide an update in our annual report to Par‐
liament, and the results will help to inform TSB’s Watchlist 2022.

● (1550)

[Translation]

Another source of input to inform the next Watchlist involves our
consultations with industry stakeholders where we discuss the
progress that has been made on existing issues and seek their in‐
sight on emerging issues.

We have largely completed our consultations with the air and
marine sectors last fall and will be meeting with rail industry stake‐
holders in the coming months.

[English]

Thank you very much. We are ready to answer your questions.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Fox.

I've just heard from the translators that there's a bit of popping
coming from your microphone. I'm wondering if you could move
your microphone either up or down, so that it's not directly in front
of your mouth. Thank you very much. I'm sure that will be greatly
appreciated.

For the first round of questioning, we will turn it over to Ms.
Gladu for six minutes.

Colleagues, to help ensure that we are keeping on time, I have
borrowed from my colleague Mr. Badawey: I have a yellow flag to
wave if you have one minute left, and a red flag if your time is up.

Ms. Gladu, I turn the floor over to you.

Ms. Marilyn Gladu (Sarnia—Lambton, CPC): Thank you to
our witnesses for being here today and for the work they do to try
to improve rail safety here in Canada.

I want to start by looking at some of the incidents that have hap‐
pened. I looked at the incident reports. Sometimes investigations
are required. I see that 21 investigations have been done since 2019
for a number of incidents, for which there are no reports yet. One of
these was an employee fatality, and there were 11 derailments, 11
rail crossing incidents, five collisions and three others.

Can you explain why there is no report for these things? It has
been, in some cases, two years since the incident.

Ms. Kathleen Fox: I don't know if the particular incidents to
which the member is referring are incidents or accidents, because
we define occurrences as one or the other.

As I said, we have, from the stats, almost 1,200 occurrence re‐
ports per year. We can't and don't investigate all of them. We have a
policy on occurrence classification, which determines what level of
investigation we will do for each one.
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The year 2019 was particularly busy, and we have the highest
number of major rail investigations under way. We don't control our
workload. We have finite resources, so when we have a large num‐
ber of occurrences that we want to investigate, we need to spread
ourselves across those, and that sometimes affects the time re‐
quired. I can tell you that we are pushing these through and we ex‐
pect to release those for which we are doing full investigations in
the coming days, weeks and months.

I would also add that for all of those occurrences, whether or not
we complete a full investigation with a public report, we assess ev‐
ery one. We record the data and we use that for statistical analysis
and to inform future investigations.

Ms. Marilyn Gladu: I see that the recommendations that come
out of there are supposed to inform the government's next annual
plan.

Where do you get your resourcing from? Is it from the federal
government?

● (1555)

Ms. Kathleen Fox: If we talk about our investigators, our per‐
sonnel, they come from a variety of backgrounds. Many come from
industry.

Ms. Marilyn Gladu: What I'm asking about is the government
funding. I'm trying to figure out why there are not enough of them
to get the work done.

Ms. Kathleen Fox: I misunderstood the question.

Our budget comes from Parliament, but perhaps Monsieur La‐
pointe can add to the issue about resourcing.

Mr. André Lapointe (Chief Operating Officer, Canadian
Transportation Accident Investigation and Safety Board): Cer‐
tainly.

As Ms. Fox noted, we are a small organization. We have about
230 employees. We have deep expertise across our different inves‐
tigation branches. The teams we have are relatively small, and we
have regular rotation and employees leaving for retirement.

Ms. Marilyn Gladu: You could probably use more resources to
catch up on these things.

Mr. André Lapointe: We did have an injection of $2.9 million
in 2018-19 to shore up our budget.

Ms. Marilyn Gladu: I have only a limited amount of time, so let
me switch gears and go to my next question, which is about rail
crossings.

This one is of interest to me, because I see that the government
put in $11 million. It recognized that improving the safety at rail
crossings was important, but what's happened in ridings like mine
is that you have a population of 2,000 in this little hamlet, and there
are seven rail crossings. The government has given $27,000 per rail
crossing, but the cost of fixing one is really more like $350,000, so
it's not happening and they're not making enough progress.

Do you have recommendations on rail crossings that you feel the
government has not moved along on well enough?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: We don't have any current outstanding rec‐
ommendations related to crossings per se. We did have in the past.
In fact, crossing safety was on our watch-list up until about 2014.

It was in 2014 that the federal government implemented new
grade crossings regulations and grade crossings standards, which
were to be phased in over a period of time. I've recently learned
that the phasing has been extended or pushed further to the right.

Railway crossing safety is an interesting issue, because it's multi‐
ple jurisdictions. On the one hand, the road authority has a role to
play with respect to the crossing. The railway operator has a role to
play. Cost sharing can be sometimes a challenge, I'm sure, especial‐
ly in some of the smaller communities, to upgrade these crossings.

Ms. Marilyn Gladu: Definitely.

What about the watch-list? How does something get on the
watch-list?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: The watch-list was initiated in 2010, because
we had a number of long-standing outstanding recommendations
that were not being acted on. We felt it was a way to attract atten‐
tion and get further traction for change. It has been successful in
that sense.

Basically it's a combination of our data, our ongoing investiga‐
tions and our outstanding recommendations that drives what goes
on the watch-list. We renew it every two years.

Ms. Marilyn Gladu: Good.

If you had advice for this committee, what do you think the fed‐
eral government should be doing to promote rail safety that they're
not doing?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, we've laid out our desires in terms
of what we'd like to see the emphasis on for rail safety, and that's on
our watch-list with the five issues that I mentioned at the committee
today.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Gladu.

The next six-minute round is for Mr. Badawey.

Mr. Badawey, the floor is yours.

Mr. Vance Badawey (Niagara Centre, Lib.): Thanks for com‐
ing out today, folks. It's great to have you out.

I guess my questions are going to be with respect to rail safety
but also the impacts on the surrounding communities, based not on‐
ly on safety but also on the lifestyle of communities. I'm not sure if
that is your jurisdiction, but you can answer that as I ask the ques‐
tions.

In its 2016 report, entitled “An Update on Rail Safety”, this com‐
mittee recommended that rail companies be required to “provide re‐
al time knowledge of dangerous goods...via cellular or Internet ser‐
vices” to first responders as well as the community at large, and
that they develop alternate methods of providing this knowledge in
“communities outside of cellular range”.



4 TRAN-04 February 10, 2022

My first question is this: To your knowledge, what access do first
responders have to real-time knowledge of dangerous goods being
transported by rail in their respective communities?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: I can give a partial answer. We can perhaps
provide some more data if required.

Each railway is required to have an emergency response assis‐
tance plan. They share aggregate numbers upon request with the
communities through which they go. It's my understanding that first
responders can have immediate access to whatever is being carried
on a particular train involved in a particular occurrence.

Transport Canada may be in a better position to provide details,
or the railway companies that I believe are going to be meeting
with you in a couple of weeks.
● (1600)

Mr. Vance Badawey: My second question is with respect to the
crossings themselves.

In one area of my riding, in the city of Thorold—in Port Robin‐
son to be exact, which is part of the city of Thorold—there is a
crossing that at times gets blocked for 20 to 25 minutes, sometimes
30 minutes. It is the only access into the community for first re‐
sponders and for individuals getting to their families.

What processes or protocols do you see fit, on behalf of your or‐
ganization, to ensure that these crossings are clear when first re‐
sponders have to cross them?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, again, this is perhaps a question
for Transport Canada.

There are rules in place with respect to how long a train can oc‐
cupy a crossing in other than exceptional circumstances. In fact,
this is an issue we're looking at in an ongoing investigation at a
crossing in Ontario. I can't go into the details because the investiga‐
tion is ongoing, but we're certainly aware of the issues it causes,
and we're looking at that in terms of our current investigations.

Mr. Vance Badawey: Mr. Chairman, in the 2016 report, “An
Update on Rail Safety”, this committee recommended “That ad‐
vance notice and opportunity for consultation with municipalities
be provided on rules and any exceptions to rules.” In its response,
the Government of Canada indicated that a mechanism to that ef‐
fect would be introduced by Transport Canada.

These are questions for those who are giving testimony. One, to
your knowledge, has such a mechanism been introduced by Trans‐
port Canada? Two, to your knowledge, has Transport Canada con‐
sulted with municipalities in developing such a mechanism? Three,
what is the typical involvement of municipalities in the develop‐
ment of change to Transport Canada rules regarding rail safety?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: I'm sorry, Mr. Chair, but I'm not able to an‐
swer any of those questions.

Mr. Vance Badawey: My last question, Mr. Chairman, is with
respect to communities. It's a question I asked the Canadian Trans‐
portation Agency back in June, at a meeting we held on this very
issue. It has to do with the effects of rail operations on municipali‐
ties. I guess it was relative to the times of operation. Of course,
with noise, odour and vibration, the safety of individuals and neigh‐
bouring communities can be a question.

The answer I got back from the CTA was that they would moni‐
tor existing situations, and with that, would put in place, based on
complaints, an order that operations would be happening only at
certain times of the day, for example. If these impacts are drastic at
nighttime, then, of course, the operators wouldn't be able to operate
at night.

What jurisdiction does your organization have over this, with re‐
spect to the effects of rail operations on neighbouring communi‐
ties?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: We have no jurisdiction per se, Mr. Chair, in
that respect, but when we are investigating a crossing accident, we
look at what impact those issues have had on a particular occur‐
rence. Whether it's a train being delayed on a crossing, which can
influence driver and pedestrian behaviour and perhaps lead to un‐
safe practices, is something we're looking at in a current ongoing
investigation. We definitely look at that. We look at the standards.
We look at the regulations in place.

Mr. Vance Badawey: With respect to “other” situations that hap‐
pen at crossings and sidings, are the recommendations that come
out of the report that you have, under certain circumstances, passed
on to Transport Canada and the CTA?

What's the protocol with respect to situations that you investigate
and of course the recommendations that you would otherwise make
on those situations?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: If we were to make a specific recommenda‐
tion relating to railway crossings, it goes to the Minister of Trans‐
port, who of course oversees both Transport Canada and the CTA in
the portfolio. We make our recommendations to the Minister of
Transport or to a minister of a federal department that's involved in
overseeing the safety of the occurrence.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Badawey.

● (1605)

[Translation]

I now give the floor to Mr. Barsalou-Duval for six minutes.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval (Pierre-Boucher—Les Patri‐
otes—Verchères, BQ): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Ms. Fox, in your opening statement, you spoke of uncontrolled
movements of trains. Many of us know that this is what led to the
tragedy in Lac-Mégantic. Recently, I became aware of a document
published by the TSB, which indicated that the uncontrolled move‐
ment of trains was on an upward trend. You also mentioned, I think,
that uncontrolled movements of trains are included in the Watchlist.

In your opinion, why is this trend on the rise?

Has the TSB made recommendations in this regard that have not
yet been implemented, but that would help to change things?
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Ms. Kathleen Fox: Uncontrolled movements arise from three
situations. Since time is short, I won't describe each one in detail.
We observed 78 cases in 2019, but concluded that they were going
down in 2020 and 2021. We do not know if this reduction was at‐
tributable to measures taken by stakeholders to improve safety or to
reduced rail activity during the pandemic. That is an issue we want
to analyze.

We made two recommendations, one of which was made follow‐
ing the accident in Lac-Mégantic and the other more recently. In the
latter, we recommended that Transport Canada work closely with
the rail industry and union representatives to determine the causes
of uncontrolled movements. The goal is to find solutions to reduce
the frequency of these events and the risks they represent.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you very much.

According to the follow-up audit conducted in 2021, the govern‐
ment was unable to adequately implement measures suggested in
the 2013 Report of the Auditor General.

Do you find that the department provides satisfactory answers to
problems raised in the course of your investigations?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: We have certainly seen improvements,
specifically with regard to monitoring conducted by Transport
Canada. However, we want to see more marked progress in some
areas. For example, all railway companies in Canada have been
subjected to a safety management system audit. The idea was to
confirm that these companies had a system in place compliant with
regulations.

We want to know if their system is effective, if it works and if it
achieves the desired results. However, we have not yet seen the evi‐
dence. That is why this is on the Watchlist.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: The effectiveness of a system is
important. Indeed, if a system is not effective, it has no utility what‐
soever.

In a recent petition circulated by the Teamsters, they said that
TSB investigators had their hands tied in terms of assigning fault
for a rail accident.

Do you consider that TSB investigators have sufficient powers to
make the necessary improvements to rail safety in Canada?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: I'm not sure I correctly understood your
question.

Investigators certainly conduct investigations into railway occur‐
rences. Reports and recommendations are produced, as needed,
through the TSB.

I don't exactly know the purpose of your question and I apolo‐
gize.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I would like to know if you do in‐
deed consider that the TSB's powers are sufficient to make signifi‐
cant changes.

Ms. Kathleen Fox: With respect to investigations and data col‐
lection, for example, we have sufficient powers under the Canadian
Transportation Accident Investigation and Safety Board Act.

Moreoever, the implementation of our recommendations is not
mandatory, nor should it be. This gives us the ability to present ar‐
guments in favour of changes without participating in decision-
making, since that could lead to a conflict of interest during an in‐
vestigation.

● (1610)

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: In your remarks, you said that
your role was not to determine who is guilty or to assign fault dur‐
ing investigations into specific situations.

Does that sometimes slow down your work, in a way?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: That is not the case at all.

In fact, I see it as an advantage. We can ask people for informa‐
tion, because they know that their testimony is protected by the Act
and we are not there to determine civil or criminal liability. That
leads them to trust investigators more when they ask their ques‐
tions.

If people thought that we could judge their actions and maybe
lay charges, they would be less inclined to cooperate with us and
give us information.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: My next question is on...

The Chair: I am sorry, Mr. Barsalou-Duval, but you have 15
seconds left. If you agree, you can ask your question during the
next round.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Perfect.

The Chair: I now give the floor to Mr. Bachrach.

[English]

Mr. Bachrach, you have six minutes.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach (Skeena—Bulkley Valley, NDP): Thank
you, Ms. Fox. It's good to see you back at the committee.

I'd like to pick up on the earlier remarks of my colleague, Mr.
Barsalou-Duval, about safety management systems. When I looked
at the TSB's watch-list and the concerns the TSB has had with it
over time, which it hopes to see remedied, I was surprised to learn
that safety management systems have been on the watch-list since it
was created.

Could you speak to why these safety management systems have
remained on the watch-list for so long—over a decade—and why
Transport Canada hasn't been able to do enough to meet your con‐
cerns and address the things you're raising when it comes to these
vital components of railway safety?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: When it comes to safety management sys‐
tems being on the TSB watch-list, you are correct in saying that
they have been on it since 2010. However, if we were to look at
each of the different versions of the watch-list, we would see that it
has evolved over the years to now being multimodal, because the
concerns are different for air or for marine compared to for rail.
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With respect to rail, railways have been required to have safety
management systems since 2001. The SMS regulations were signif‐
icantly strengthened in 2015 with the introduction of railway oper‐
ating certificates and much more prescriptive, detailed regulations.

We are seeing two things, which is why rail safety management
is still on the watch-list. Through our investigations, we have found
that the railways are not identifying hazards and not conducting risk
assessments all the time, or at least during the time of our investiga‐
tions. They are also not effectively mitigating the risks in their op‐
erations, and that situation has contributed to accidents and inci‐
dents.

With respect to Transport, their oversight of the SMS has not yet
looked at the effectiveness of railway safety management, although
they've indicated that they've started to.

That's why those issues are still on the watch-list for railways.
Mr. Taylor Bachrach: I'll just pick up on that last point you

made. Have recent Transportation Safety Board investigations iden‐
tified failings related specifically to the safety management systems
that contributed to the rail incidents?

Maybe I'll rephrase that. Are these shortcomings of the safety
management systems contributing to accidents, and have your in‐
vestigations found that?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: To be clear, Mr. Chair, they are contributing
to some occurrences but not all; I don't want to say all. Certainly in
some cases they are. Some of them are ongoing, and when these re‐
ports are issued, you will certainly see how Transport Canada over‐
sight has been a contributing factor or has created a risk of such ac‐
cidents.

Certainly that was evident in the Lac-Mégantic investigation that
we released in 2014 based on the 2013 accident. Again, in fairness
to Transport, they've come a long way. They've done a lot of things,
but we are still seeing some issues in some reports, so we continue
to look at that and to either make recommendations or keep it on
our watch-list.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Speaking to the issue of effectiveness
monitoring, can you break down in really plain English terms why
it's important that Transport Canada monitor the effectiveness of
these safety management systems? The safety management systems
are very complex and opaque to most residents of the riding I repre‐
sent.

Can you spell out why it's important that Transport Canada audit
the effectiveness of these systems?
● (1615)

Ms. Kathleen Fox: It starts with the fact that the railways are
first and foremost responsible to manage the safety of their opera‐
tions, as any transportation operator is. You need a strong frame‐
work with regulations, and then you need strong oversight to make
sure companies are able to identify the things that can go wrong,
take steps to make sure they don't lead to adverse consequences,
and make sure the steps they've taken fix the issue they've identi‐
fied.

That is how you reduce risk in operations. Reducing risk reduces
the chance of accidents.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Major rail safety incidents can have a
profound impact on communities, yet these safety management sys‐
tems, which are mainstays of the regulatory environment around
rail safety, are entirely opaque to communities, to municipalities, to
residents and to citizens. They're proprietary documents that sit
within the rail companies.

Would increased transparency when it comes to these safety
management systems benefit the rail safety environment in general?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Citizens want to be reassured that the trans‐
portation systems in this country are working effectively and safely,
and that if you board a plane, train or ship, you're going to arrive
safely, etc. I understand that.

Trying to show somebody a safety management system is very
difficult, because it's not a book on a shelf. It's got to be something
that permeates day-to-day operations and mindsets.

I coined a phrase once. It's basically about looking for trouble
before trouble finds you, and then taking steps to address that.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: When you talk about looking for trouble,
maybe you're referring to this safety culture. I believe that safety
culture is one of the stated goals of the safety management systems.

Do you believe that the safety management system process cur‐
rently in place is achieving that objective of creating a safety cul‐
ture within our railways?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: It's a bit of a chicken and egg situation. You
need sound safety culture to support a solid safety management sys‐
tem, but culture alone without the process won't be effective.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Bachrach.

In this next round, we will go to Ms. Lantsman for five minutes.

Ms. Melissa Lantsman (Thornhill, CPC): Thank you, Ms. Fox,
for joining us.

I want to get specific and dig a bit further into what my col‐
leagues were asking. It's about resourcing. Specifically, if you go
on the TSB website, there are numerous safety incidents that have
been unaddressed by the transport ministry. I'll speak about some
specifics.

In August 2019, there was a fatality at the CN MacMillan rail
yard, and Transport Canada hasn't, in what I've seen, scheduled a
date to release the report on this death.

I want to know from you if you have any further information
about when we can expect the information about this. What's hap‐
pening to prevent any further deaths in the meantime?
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Ms. Kathleen Fox: With respect to the MacMillan yard occur‐
rence, it's the Transportation Safety Board that's investigating it. We
have completed the investigation. We are in the final stages of pro‐
ducing a report, and we will be releasing it imminently. I can't give
you a specific date today. That is definitely one of the ones that I
can tell you is done; it's a question of having to do the final steps to
put it out the door.

It's important for the committee to know that TSB does not wait
until we complete and publish an investigation report to provide
safety feedback to Transport Canada and to the operator. We do that
through other safety communications, things like rail safety adviso‐
ry letters and rail safety information letters, so they receive infor‐
mation throughout the course of the investigation to help either the
regulator or the operator take steps to reduce the risk of a similar
reoccurrence, even before the investigation is completed.

Ms. Melissa Lantsman: In your view, does that generally hap‐
pen? In this case specifically, do you see that any changes have
been made, given that we haven't seen an investigation or any kind
of statement on it in two years?
● (1620)

Ms. Kathleen Fox: I can assure the committee that safety action
was taken from this occurrence and will be part of the final report,
which we hope to release later in March or early April.

Ms. Melissa Lantsman: Sure. Ms. Fox, do you think you're well
resourced enough to do these investigations in a timely manner?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, we're resourced for a baseline of
occurrences, but when we get either a very large investigation such
as Lac-Mégantic, or when we get a series of smaller investigations,
it can stretch our resources.

We can't predict when these things are going to happen or how
they're going to happen. As I mentioned earlier, in 2019 we had a
number of investigations. We had something like half a dozen ma‐
jor rail investigations going on. Therefore, it does cause us to be
stretched a little thin and take a little longer, but at the same time,
each investigation is different and we have to do a thorough job and
get it right.

Ms. Melissa Lantsman: Seeing as though the government, in
my view at least, is dismantling the Canadian energy sector, there
has been a downturn in railway incidents because of the lack of
traffic. I want to know your view, given that oil is the most danger‐
ous resource to transport.

In 2021, Canada moved 1.6 million barrels of oil by rail. I think
the Lac‑Mégantic disaster showed us that catastrophes can take
place when moving oil by train. Do you think transporting oil via
pipelines will lead to greater rail safety or a decrease in such inci‐
dents?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, we don't compare rail versus
pipeline safety other than to say that each mode of transport has its
risks and each mode of transport has to be conducted as safety as
possible.

Ms. Melissa Lantsman: Do you believe transporting oil by rail
is as safe as transporting it by pipeline, given that you don't make
the comparison, but just on a number of incidents, if you're looking
at it from a risk perspective?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, there are different ways of com‐
paring risk. When a unit train carrying crude oil derails, it depends
on a lot of factors, how much oil is lost, where it's lost, the impact
on the environment and the possibility of casualties versus, for ex‐
ample, a pipeline, which can potentially leak more oil and create
more environmental consequences. It's really difficult to compare.

Ms. Melissa Lantsman: Ms. Fox, I just want to make sure that
if you are comparing them, you're comparing them from an envi‐
ronmental perspective to a loss-of-life perspective. My question is
about safety and whether, in your view, less oil transmitted by rail
would create better conditions for fewer incidents in terms of, let's
say, the loss of life.

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, it would be difficult to say that,
because it's not what the train is carrying that causes the derailment.
It's the track; it's the wheels; it's other factors. Therefore, what we
say is if you're going to carry oil or any other dangerous good by
rail, you need to take all the steps in terms of containment and other
risk mitigation measures to reduce the risk of a derailment, and then
mitigate with the tank cars to mitigate the consequences of a derail‐
ment.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Lantsman.

Ms. Koutrakis, the floor is yours. You have five minutes.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis (Vimy, Lib.): Thank you, Ms. Fox and
Mr. Lapointe, for coming before the committee today. Your testi‐
mony is very important and I thank you very much.

Ms. Fox, in your testimony you said that the Transportation Safe‐
ty Board is unsure of reasons for the decline in accidents and un‐
controlled movements in 2020. How much did rail traffic decline
overall?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: I don't have all the underlying activity data.
That is one of the challenges and one of the initiatives we are work‐
ing on with Transport Canada and the railway industry, including
the major railways and the Railway Association of Canada.

If we look at a million train miles, there were 79 million train
miles travelled in 2021 versus just over 80 million train miles in
2020. There's a difference in activity level, but we don't have a
good way of calculating a rate.

Uncontrolled movements can happen in yards; they can happen
on the main track or on a secondary track. The issue is trying to cal‐
culate a rate. We just don't have that activity data to calculate a rate
when it comes to uncontrolled movements, but it's one of the issues
we're working on with Transport Canada and the industry.

● (1625)

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: Do you have any recommendations for
how we can find one method to calculate this? It would seem to me
that it's pretty important to have that kind of data.
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Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, we absolutely agree that it's im‐
portant to have activity and volume data so that you can compare
apples to apples from one year to the next. All I'm saying is that for
2020 and 2021, given the effects of the pandemic and other events,
the activity level dropped off. We don't have a good enough mea‐
sure to compare one rate to the next.

We can say that the numbers went down. Did they go down be‐
cause of the safety measures taken since 2019, or did they go down
because there was less activity? That's where we don't know the an‐
swer.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: Recently in Montreal—not too far from
where I live, actually—on the corner of Van-Horne and Saint-Lau‐
rent, there was a tragic accident. A young, 31-year-old woman was
killed when she was illegally trespassing on rail lines.

I'm curious to know what more, in your opinion, could be done
to prevent trespassing on rail lines. Is this problem getting worse or
better?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, trespassing accidents are the
highest number of railway fatalities every year in Canada. It is trag‐
ic to see so many people killed. There is a variety of reasons behind
that.

It is a combination of security and public education issues. We
haven't done very many trespassing accident investigations. When
we have done them, we've looked at things like increased security,
such as fencing. We've looked at the jurisdictional issues around
building and land and what is built close to a railway track. Putting
a school on one side and a fast food store on the other causes peo‐
ple to take shortcuts across tracks.

These are very big issues. I know Operation Lifesaver is very
seized with this, as are Transport Canada and the railway industry.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: We also know, through testimony and
various stories that we hear in the news, that crews and train opera‐
tors don't always follow all of the safety measures or recommenda‐
tions.

In your opinion, what action should railway companies take to
ensure that crews recognize and follow railway signals?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, we believe that to reduce the risk
of not following signal indications, which is often not a question of
somebody just blowing through a signal.... We're talking about mis‐
interpreting or bad weather. There are a whole bunch of reasons
why that may happen.

The ultimate solution to reducing that risk is technology. In fact,
this past weekend Transport Canada issued a notice of intent with
respect to enhanced train technology, which we have been calling
for now since 2000.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: I have one last question. This is really to
educate me, more than anything.

I heard you speak about accidents versus incidents. Could you
elaborate a little, please? What's the distinction between the two?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: There's a specific definition in our regula‐
tions. In simple terms, an accident usually involves damage and/or
injuries or death, whereas an incident would be when, for example,

a train crew didn't stop at a signal, but they didn't hit anything or
derail.

Ms. Annie Koutrakis: Thank you.

I have no further questions, Mr. Chair.

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Koutrakis.

Mr. Barsalou-Duval, you have the floor for two and half minutes.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Given that I have not directed any questions to Mr. Lapointe, re‐
sponsible for investigations, I will seize the opportunity.

Mr. Lapointe, for a certain number of years, we have seen an in‐
crease—or at least, an upward trend—of transportation of danger‐
ous goods, especially transportation of oil, which seems to be very
popular.

If in the years the come, there were to be an increase in trans‐
portation of oil by rail going through our cities, could that lead to
other disasters or increase the risk of disaster?

● (1630)

Mr. André Lapointe: Thank you for the question.

I would like to come back to a point Ms. Fox raised earlier. More
attention must be given to maintenance and everything that affects
the safety of the means of transportation, whether it is oil or other
dangerous goods.

As for a possible increase in transportation of dangerous goods,
we will have to wait and see. Right now, we are focusing on what
we see. There are several accidents that we have investigated and,
in some cases, that we are still investigating, where the perfor‐
mance of tank cars was being monitored. We will then be able to
comment on changes made to those cars.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: The TSB studied the Lac-Mégan‐
tic accident, and a report came out. Since then, the implementation
of a rail bypass was announced and the government is promoting a
project connected to that bypass.

We found out through the media that Canadian Pacific, or CP,
wants to quadruple train speed and double the length of convoys,
according to its operating plan.

Was the TSB consulted on this matter, and if not, did it give
opinions on, for example, certain decisions or authorizations?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: To my knowledge, we were not consulted,
not was it necessary to do so. We have no opinion to express on the
subject of the Lac-Mégantic rail bypass. I understand full well why,
on a psychological level, the citizens of Lac-Mégantic want a rail
bypass.

From our point of view, regardless of where the trains run, it
must be done safely.
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Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: When a route is changed, aren't
you consulted or asked to give your opinion on the greater or lesser
degree of safety of that change?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: No. It is not our role to express our opinion
about the safety of a route change. However, if there is an investi‐
gation after an accident or incident and we determine that certain
factors were not taken into consideration during the change, we
would mention it in our report.

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Barsalou-Duval.

[English]

Mr. Bachrach, you have two and a half minutes. The floor is
yours.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Ms. Fox, fatigue management has been
on the watch-list for a number of years. When I talk to railroaders
in the community I live in, and there are many of them, fatigue is
something they frequently raise with me.

Do the current fatigue management plans of the railways reflect
the most up-to-date science on fatigue?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, that would be difficult for me to
answer because I haven't seen specifically each plan for each rail‐
way. It was Transport Canada's responsibility to review and ap‐
prove those plans, so I can't speak to whether they meet the current
thinking with respect to fatigue management.

We certainly encourage it, though. We want to see that the rules
and the schedules apply, particularly in freight train operations,
which are often unscheduled or at least not on a schedule that can
be predicted, and which run 24-7 and can have a definite impact on
crew fatigue.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Ms. Fox, when you talk to the companies
about fatigue management, what are the barriers they raise? Why
aren't they addressing this to your satisfaction, and why haven't
they over the years?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: There are, I'm sure, a number of considera‐
tions. One would be that any schedule to address fatigue has to be
done through collective bargaining. While collective bargaining
should never stand in the way of doing the right thing when it
comes to fatigue management, scheduling is an important part of
collective bargaining and can have a definite impact on fatigue
management.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Just shifting gears here, you mentioned
enhanced train control technologies. I understand there was a TSB
investigation following a derailment in 2012, near Burlington, that
recommended these enhanced rail controls. That's almost a decade
ago. Just now we have the federal government announcing that
they're going to implement these.

Why did it take nearly a decade to act on this Transportation
Safety Board recommendation?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, in fact it took longer than that, be‐
cause the first recommendation that we made with respect to physi‐
cal defences in that respect goes back to 2000, and in 2013 we up‐
dated it with the Burlington accident you've just mentioned.

We are very anxious to see what the details are going to be on
this notice of intent. We feel it's very important. There are about 30-
plus occurrences a year. Not all of them result in accidents and de‐
railments, but the risk of a catastrophe is there as long as we rely
strictly on a human being to follow the rules.

● (1635)

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Perhaps I can fit one more in, Mr. Chair.
Both CN and CP have these technologies installed on their tracks in
the United States and have for a number of years. Why is the U.S.
so much further ahead when it comes to adopting this technology?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, that's a very good question, and
it's one we've asked in a recent report.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Bachrach.

For the next round we will go to Mr. Dowdall.

Mr. Dowdall, the floor is yours. You have five minutes.

Mr. Terry Dowdall (Simcoe—Grey, CPC): I want to thank our
presenters on the panel today for being here.

In beginning, I know that the TSB is an independent body, but
that being said, this is our first meeting in, what, six months, since
“the most important election since 1945”, I believe. I'm just curi‐
ous. As times have changed, we have, at this moment, the most di‐
vided society I've seen in my lifetime. I have concerns. I know
there are blockades and convoys here, and we're seeing trucks and
vehicular travel, whether it's at border crossings or whether it's here
in Ottawa. Certainly, at all the border points, it's a concern.

As for my question, I've not really heard a plan from the govern‐
ment on anything about how we're going to get out of where we are
today, so I'm kind of curious about where you stand as a board. I'm
going to ask questions like this: What are the safety protocols you
have in place that deal with risks associated with the blockade? Al‐
so, I'm more concerned about the fact that whatever we thought it
could be before, this is a little different. There's a lot of iron out
there. There are a lot of individuals, more than than I've ever seen
in my lifetime, who are frustrated.

I'm just wondering. Have you had a call from the government at
all, first of all to make sure that your plan is solid? If so, has the
plan changed because of what we're seeing with this type of block‐
ade?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Mr. Chair, we investigate air, rail, marine
and pipeline accidents. We have nothing to do with surface trans‐
portation, so it's really outside of our jurisdiction.

Mr. Terry Dowdall: I'm talking about blockades at rail lines.

Ms. Kathleen Fox: [Technical difficulty—Editor] not aware of
any current blockades at rail lines, but again, that would be for the
government, for the railway companies or for the regulator to ad‐
dress. We investigate accidents and incidents, not those types of
events.
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Mr. Terry Dowdall: I'll move on to the next part. I guess it goes
back to railway crossings. I was the mayor of a town for a lot of
years, and I definitely saw the risks involved with a lot of those
crossings. You said earlier that—I can't quite remember how
many—people were in accidents. In particular, perhaps some peo‐
ple mistakenly.... I know of people in my community who hap‐
pened to be driving, and the radio was on too loud, or whatever it
possibly could be.... They could be tired, fatigued, but there are a
lot of other ones where you find out later that perhaps they had
mental stress or something of that nature in their lives.

I'm wondering if you could elaborate. Do you get numbers from
that at all? Is there any follow-up on what we could do to perhaps
make these safer?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Well, we do have statistics on railway cross‐
ing accidents. We have done a number of railway crossing investi‐
gations through the years. We are doing one now.

A major improvement was the grade crossing regulations and
grade crossing standards that Transport Canada implemented in
2014, but there are a number of issues when it comes to crossings.
It's the design of the crossing. It's maintaining the crossing. It's
maintaining the sight lines of the crossing. It is, as was mentioned
earlier, not blocking crossings for protracted periods of time be‐
yond five minutes, which is what the regulations say is the maxi‐
mum. It is also driver and pedestrian behaviour.

We're going to be looking at a number of those issues in an ongo‐
ing investigation we're doing into a crossing accident in Ontario.

Mr. Terry Dowdall: Okay, but you don't exactly get a break‐
down of perhaps the state of the individual, I guess, and why it hap‐
pened. I'm just wondering whether we are doing enough, for in‐
stance, for a lot of the people who are using railways. Because of
the frustration in their lives, should we be sending a message that
we need to do more for mental health?
● (1640)

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Certainly, if you look at some of the tres‐
passing occurrences—and I don't have good statistics on how many
of those trespassing accidents were intentional versus accidental, if
I may say—we do look at driver behaviour when we investigate
crossing accidents. We don't do a lot of trespassing accidents, but
we have done some. We do look at driver behaviour with respect to
crossing accidents to the extent that we can, recognizing that there
may be no camera and there may be no survivor, etc.

Certainly, driver behaviour is something we're going to look at in
the context of the crossing study we're doing now for the increase
in crossing accidents during the winter months.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Dowdall.

Mr. Iacono, the floor is yours, and you have five minutes.
Mr. Angelo Iacono (Alfred-Pellan, Lib.): Mrs. Fox and Mon‐

sieur Lapointe, welcome to the committee. It's nice to see you
again.

Mrs. Fox, in November 2020, Transport Canada approved the
new duty and rest rules for railway operating employees. You've
made reference in the past to the statistic that the number of casual‐
ties has gone down. Did these new rules better align with the latest

science on fatigue management? Did it represent a significant im‐
provement over the old rules?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: I'm not in a position to compare the new and
the old, but we will certainly look at it in the context of our investi‐
gations. Because those new duty rules came into effect in Novem‐
ber 2020, it takes a while before we see the impact of that in the
system, but we certainly look at fatigue as a possible causal or con‐
tributing risk factor in any rail investigation that we do, or any oth‐
er mode, for that matter.

[Translation]

Mr. Angelo Iacono: Thank you.

How can Transport Canada improve the advice it gives to rail‐
way companies about how to collect and communicate their data on
rail safety?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: That's a big question.

Railway companies are obviously required to send certain data to
Transport Canada. We suggested in a previous recommendation
that broadening the types of data sent to Transport Canada could
improve monitoring of railway companies. For example, it is not
enough to look only at breakages. Early warning signs of incidents
and accidents also need to be identified.

Mr. Angelo Iacono: Thank you.

What role should municipalities and community associations
play in improving rail safety in Canada?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: Municipalities and organizations like the
Federation of Canadian Municipalities certainly have a role to play
in the safety of grade crossings, not only in terms of maintenance,
but also the development of subdivisions and community develop‐
ment.

For example, if we want to build a grade crossing in a very busy
area, we have to ask if it wouldn't be worthwhile to instead build an
underpass or an overpass to avoid the risk of collision. However,
this type of construction is still relatively costly.

Mr. Angelo Iacono: I fully agree.

[English]

What are the best land use planning practices that enhance rail‐
way access and promote residential and commercial development
and a safer community environment?

Ms. Kathleen Fox: I'm sorry, Mr. Chair, that goes a little beyond
my expertise, or at least my ability to come up with a good answer
today.



February 10, 2022 TRAN-04 11

I've attended some Federation of Canadian Municipalities meet‐
ings where this has been a big topic of discussion. It's a shared re‐
sponsibility between the municipalities and the railway operators
under the overall guidance of Transport Canada, which sets the
standards and the rules.

Mr. Angelo Iacono: Ms. Fox, I have some factual questions.
First, is the RCMP investigating the Field, B.C. tragedy? Second,
do you have any general comments about railway policing in
Canada? Is it appropriate that there is specialized railway policing,
or should everything be delegated to the RCMP or the local police
force?
● (1645)

Ms. Kathleen Fox: To answer the first question, it is my under‐
standing that the RCMP is conducting a criminal investigation into
the Field occurrence, which is completely separate and independent
from the TSB safety investigation into the same occurrence.

I have no opinion to express on the role of railway police versus
federal or provincial police forces.

Mr. Angelo Iacono: Thank you, Ms. Fox.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Iacono.

Thank you, colleagues.

My sincere thanks to our witnesses, Ms. Fox and Mr. Lapointe.
You can now disconnect and leave the meeting.

Colleagues, I'll ask that you stay behind while I suspend the
meeting temporarily, so we can let in our next round of witnesses.

Thank you, everyone.
● (1645)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1645)

The Chair: This meeting is now back in session.

I'd like to thank the second round of witnesses for their presence
today.

Appearing before us we have Mr. Gian-Carlo Carra, city council‐
lor for the City of Calgary; Mr. Chris Apps, the director of Kitselas
lands and resources for the Kitselas First Nation; and Mr. Lyndon
Isaak, president of the Teamsters Canada Rail Conference.

Witnesses, welcome to the Standing Committee on Transport, In‐
frastructure and Communities. We will now begin with your open‐
ing remarks.

I will turn the floor over to you, Mr. Carra. You have five min‐
utes.
● (1650)

Mr. Gian-Carlo Carra (City Councillor, City of Calgary):
Thank you.

This is going to be a bit different from the first section. I hope it
provokes some interesting conversation.

My position is that the railroad, and particularly the Canadian
Pacific Railroad, was a P3 project that physically built the nation of
Canada. Today we require significantly lower-carbon approaches to

almost every component of modern life if we are to survive and
thrive as a continentally scaled project of civilization in an age of
increasing climate instability. Like the bicycle, the railroad is an
old-school transportation technology that must play a renewed role
in this future. Put another way, the railroad must be as important to
Canada 100 years from now as it was 100 years ago.

Safety is a key consideration of how to better fit this old technol‐
ogy into modern life at a moment of significant and contested
change in what modern life actually means. If we fail to understand
the change proposition that's before us, it's very likely we will get
the question of safety wrong.

Our experience at the City of Calgary offers a great case study in
what this means, particularly as we work to reconcile today's ap‐
proaches to rail safety with the lower-carbon, transit-oriented city
building of tomorrow that we need.

The same way the railroad established Canada as a series of set‐
tlements at station areas networked along the route with vast swaths
of farmland and wilderness in between, our original approach to
building our larger settlements followed the same pattern at a
smaller scale. Streetcar networks linked neighbourhood centres to
each other and to industrial working landscapes. Across Canada to‐
day, these streetcar-developed downtowns, so-called streetcar sub‐
urbs, and industrial landscapes represent some of the most produc‐
tive, valuable, desirable and low-carbon parts of our cities and
towns.

The city of Calgary is extremely representative of this phe‐
nomenon. Eighty-five per cent of our city has been built since the
end of World War II, in conjunction with the rise of the automobile
and the decline of the railroad. The 15% representing the earlier
transit-oriented city built by the streetcar significantly outperforms
the automobile-scaled city across the social, environmental, public
health, economic and fiscal spectrums. Therefore, our approach to
the future is to retrofit our automobile-scaled city into a transit-ori‐
ented city of great neighbourhoods, driven by federally supported
projects like the Green Line.

Challengingly, as we began planning for the Green Line over
five years ago, with community-involved, station-area, city-shaping
planning exercises—and due to the Green Line's proximity to and
in some cases use of active heavy rail right-of-ways—we ran amok
of rail safety policies. This conflict was significantly more sensitive
due to the recency of the Lac-Mégantic disaster. On the one hand,
we were looking at a safety best practice of a 30-metre setback
from these corridors. That's a 200-foot-wide corridor along much of
the line. On the other hand, we had a lower-carbon future of mixed-
use transit-served neighbourhoods that desperately needed this
valuable real estate to build this future.
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We had a very big conversation about safety and risk. When we
ran the actual numbers, it became clear that our default setting,
which would be protecting our population from high-impact but
very low-frequency event disasters, like Lac-Mégantic, was actual‐
ly much less safe an outcome, as we were therefore subjecting our
population to a very high frequency of lower-impact events, rang‐
ing from the propinquity of automobile accidents to the long-term
effects of sedentary lifestyles and a significantly higher contribu‐
tion to climate change.

Our solution was to build a very thoughtful safety and risk pro‐
file all along the line, armouring against derailments where derail‐
ments might actually occur and limiting access but protecting ac‐
cess for emergency response and repairs. The 200 feet of dead zone
shrank considerably, into a much safer and more usable corridor.
Speed limits according to the environment and risk profile were al‐
so critical to these considerations.

The city of the automobile, which is the city of climate change, is
predicated on a discrete segregation of uses and components of the
city. A transit-oriented city, which is the city of climate action, re‐
quires a robust and thoughtful mix of uses. “The age of the 3,000-
mile Caesar salad”, as James Howard Kunstler puts it, must end.
Canadians need to eat food that's produced much closer to home.
We must use goods that are produced much closer to home. The
railroad must play a much more integrated role in our cities and
towns moving forward, much like it used to, but with much more
sensitivity than we exercised in the past. This requires a better un‐
derstanding of risk and an evolved understanding of safety.
● (1655)

As a final note, dangerous goods transport and conflict between
trains and other users are obviously key components of safety, but
air quality is also critical. Hydrogen and/or electrification offer
longer-term solutions, but diesel blends that reduce total fuel con‐
sumption and complex hydrocarbon emissions are a critical short-
term path that we must explore as well.

Thank you. I'm happy to answer any questions.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Carra.

Next we will go to Mr. Apps.

Mr. Apps, the floor is yours. You have five minutes for your
opening remarks.

Mr. Chris J. Apps (Director, Kitselas Lands and Resources
Department, Kitselas First Nation): Thank you for the opportuni‐
ty to speak before the Committee on Transport, Infrastructure and
Communities in light of its study on railway safety today.

I'm here today representing Kitselas First Nation, with whom I
have worked for five years in the capacity of director of lands and
resources. Kitselas Nation is located in the northwest of B.C.
Amidst a territory of 1.8 million hectares that stretches 200 kilome‐
tres along the Skeena River and out to the Pacific north coast, there
are seven reserves with two primary communities. These communi‐
ties are located near Terrace, British Columbia.

Kitselas has had a long, troublesome history with the railroad. In
many ways, the rail serves as a modern embodiment of colonialism
to the people of the canyon, known as the Gitselasu, who were once

the toll-keepers of the Skeena River. After having cut through their
lands, the infrastructure that alienated Kitselas from their economy
remains to this day, bifurcating reserves, communities and the terri‐
tory. Today, Kitselas is impacted further by Canada's largest infras‐
tructure projects, including the LNG Canada export facility and the
Coastal GasLink pipeline. Over 25 industrial projects affect the ter‐
ritory and subsequently our community members.

In 2019, as a result of concerns heard from our leadership and
the community, we commissioned Dr. Janis Shandro, a community
health and safety specialist with a global portfolio, to assess the
health and safety risks associated with this unprecedented level of
industry. In her technical report to our nation, she identified the
need to better understand community health and safety risks associ‐
ated with rail. At the time of her assessment, rail traffic was report‐
ed by local emergency services professionals to be growing consid‐
erably. Her direct observation while undertaking this work indicat‐
ed that as many as three trains per hour can pass through our com‐
munities. Based on proposed industrial projects in the region, the
observed growth in traffic will only increase, with the primary car‐
go being dangerous goods.

Industrial development in the region has had other side effects as
well. Through Kitselas' participation in quarterly round tables for
LNG Canada, it has been consistently noted with evidence that the
capacity of the emergency services in the Terrace and Kitimat area
is insufficient to meet the current needs. The implication of this fact
in the event of a rail disaster is significant. We have lobbied across
all facets of provincial government for improvements in this essen‐
tial service area to no avail.

Based on recommendations from Dr. Shandro's 2019 report, Kit‐
selas commissioned another investigation, again pulling on global
expertise. In this case, we commissioned Dr. Franco Oboni and his
team at Riskope, a leading risk assessment consulting firm, who
have assessed rail-related and other risk hazards for clients around
the world. His scope was to undertake an independent rail and road
transportation risk assessment.
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The objective of this investigation was to determine, using avail‐
able information and data, if there were indeed risks to human pop‐
ulations that should be of concern. The scope of the investigation
included three segments of track from the northern border of Kitse‐
las territory through to Prince Rupert and Kitimat; two correspond‐
ing segments of highway, Highway 16 and Highway 37; and the lo‐
cal road network within one kilometre maximum of the rail line.
The investigation also looked into potential interactions between
rail and road traffic, as it was identified that there are significant
stretches of infrastructure alignment in which the rail line is adja‐
cent to Highway 16. The proximity of highways and railroad will
likely generate further aggravation.

The study concluded that harm to people is already on the verge
of international societal risk acceptability thresholds if both railroad
and highway accidents are considered. This finding was made with
publicly available information only. Riskope's study identified that,
depending on the traffic structure, accidents and mortality rates
could increase significantly. I will repeat that, at this time, based
only on the information we could obtain, we were at the brink of
acceptable risk thresholds. More projects are coming. These facts
should foster enhanced attention, preventative mitigative measures
and safety programs all along the highway and the rail line.

The study undertaken by Kitselas provides several recommenda‐
tions, which we have prepared in a supplemental brief for this com‐
mittee. The recommendations are not complex, actually; they're
very practical. It's plain to see that they're needed to safeguard our
communities.

In conclusion, I want to highlight how important health and safe‐
ty is to Kitselas. We've independently been commissioning these in‐
vestigations at the nation's own cost, as our federal and provincial
regulatory bodies have failed to do so. I sincerely hope my testimo‐
ny today does more than just provide another record of where Kit‐
selas has formally registered concern over rail safety. We need to
address these recommendations from global risk professionals, and
we need to do so now. People's lives depend on it.

● (1700)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Apps.

Mr. Isaak, welcome to the committee. The floor is yours. You
have five minutes for your opening remarks.

Mr. Lyndon Isaak (President, Teamsters Canada Rail Con‐
ference): Thank you very much. I appreciate it.

I'm Lyndon Isaak, and I'm the president of Teamsters Canada
Rail Conference. Teamsters Canada Rail Conference represents
10,000 transportation employees in Canada from coast to coast.
This includes locomotive engineers, conductors, yard persons and
rail traffic controllers from CN, CP, VIA Rail and multiple short-
line railroads.

To give you a little of my background, I was hired on with CN
Rail as a brakeman in 1987. I qualified as a conductor in 1989 and
as a locomotive engineer in 1992. I worked as a locomotive engi‐
neer until January 2019, when I was elected into my current posi‐
tion.

February 4 of this year marked the three-year anniversary of the
CP Field Hill tragedy. A runaway train descended uncontrolled
down a mountain grade in British Columbia, resulting in the death
of three of our members. After initially allowing CP's police force
to investigate the accident, as mandated by the Railway Safety Act,
almost two years following this tragedy public pressure compelled
the RCMP to conduct a criminal investigation.

It is crucial that we amend section 44 of the Railway Safety Act.
This section of the act grants exclusive jurisdiction to corporate pri‐
vate police forces on railroad property and within 500 metres of
“property that the railway company owns, possesses or adminis‐
ters”. The scope and jurisdiction of corporate and/or private police
forces must exclude investigations involving accidents and/or fatal‐
ities. These types of situations should be investigated through the
TSB, Transport Canada and/or the RCMP.

As additional information on the Field Hill accident, the TSB has
not released a final report to date, three years after the incident.

The second subject of concern I'd like to address today—you
were touching on it briefly when I came on this Zoom—is the issue
of fatigue in the rail industry. In December 2018 the Minister of
Transport issued a ministerial order to tell rail companies to amend
the railway work/rest rules. After the first submission was rejected,
the second set of work/rest rules proposed by the Railway Associa‐
tion of Canada on behalf of the rail carriers was accepted by Trans‐
port Canada and released by Minister Garneau in November 2020.
To date, we are working with Transport Canada to clarify the appli‐
cation and intent of some of the language contained in this docu‐
ment.

Our concern now lies in the fatigue management plans, which
were to be completed by the end of 2021. We have recommended
that Transport Canada reject the draft fatigue management plan
submitted by both CN and CP as insufficient. We contend that the
fatigue management plans must address the stipulations contained
in the ministerial order that are absent in the work/rest rules—
specifically, the impact of deadheading on the maximum duty peri‐
od and advance notice for work schedules to employees.

Another item that woefully needs to be addressed is the away-
from-home rest facilities utilized by the railroads. Currently, some
locations contain trailers or structures as rest facilities that are up to
60 years old and woefully insufficient for meaningful rest. Many
rest facilities currently in use are built on railroad property, in close
proximity to rail yards or our main lines, resulting in excessive
noise and vibration issues within the facility. I believe the rest facil‐
ities should be governed by separate standards legislated by the fed‐
eral government. Employees cannot be blamed for insufficient rest
and fatigue when there is no real opportunity for meaningful rest.
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I thank you for the opportunity to bring some of our concerns
forward today.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Isaak.

We'll now go forward with the first round of questioning.

Mr. Muys, the floor is yours.
Mr. Dan Muys (Flamborough—Glanbrook, CPC): Let me ad‐

dress my first question to you, Councillor Carra. I'm glad to see
there's a chinook arch in Calgary today. I lived in Calgary for al‐
most 10 years and I rode the LRT on a regular basis. That was prior
to the Green Line.

One of my colleagues on this committee asked the previous pan‐
el about the interaction of municipalities and rail companies, and
where that overlaps in terms of rail safety. From your perspective
on municipal council, where do you see that? Can you comment
further on that?
● (1705)

Mr. Gian-Carlo Carra: I represent the east Calgary communi‐
ties of Ward 9. It is the home to a lot of the rail infrastructure and
also home to CP Rail's world headquarters. I'm also one of the
longest-standing members of council, now four terms in, elected
alongside Mayor Nenshi in 2010. I've spent the last 11 years of my
life developing a more robust relationship with CP Rail than the
city has ever enjoyed. I would suggest that relationship is really like
diplomacy, because they are effectively another government alto‐
gether that we have absolutely no control over and no tangible
means for interaction with. I think there is a historic legacy of the
thinking that we are operating mutually conflicting projects, with
our building a city and their running a railroad. It's been 11 years of
advances and setbacks, but I can say that we have a better working
relationship with them now than we have had in decades, and that's
due to actor-to-actor relationships rather than to any systemic
framework that would really help to build the kinds of relationships
that we need between our railroads and our municipalities.

That's a very key thing that needs to be addressed if we are going
to accept the proposition that I put before you that the railroad is
critical to our long-term success in a low-carbon future. When the
railroad was established, the idea that the majority of Canadians
would be living in big cities and towns was impossible to consider,
but that's now exactly where the majority of Canadians live, and
they need to have a much better working relationship with the rail‐
road than we currently have. It can't be based on the suburban mod‐
el of segregation. It has to be based on the thoughtful, mutual inte‐
gration of this critical, continentally scaled transportation infras‐
tructure with a whole suite of mobility choices.

I would encourage anything the federal government can do—as
you think about rail safety and about the relationship to the kind of
future we need to have—to consider and explore what kind of
framework can be built for better relationships, because it cannot
rely on actor-to-actor relationships.

Mr. Dan Muys: I'm going to switch gears, because this is a dis‐
cussion and a reference to the study on rail safety. I'd like a couple
of people on the panel, if not everyone, to comment on this. When
we talk about rail safety, one thing is that we've seen a reduction in
accidents in the past few years, with less crude oil being shipped by

rail than by pipeline. Pipelines are a safer way to ship natural gas
and crude oil. We saw what happened in Lac-Mégantic.

What are your comments about the appropriateness or safety of
pipelines versus that of shipping by rail?

Mr. Gian-Carlo Carra: I believe that some goods should be
shipped by pipeline, because doing that is way safer than shipping
by rail. Some things should be shipped by rail, and I would also
suggest to you that the majority of things we ship are shipped by
truck. The estimates are that shipping something by rail is 250
times more efficient and less carbon intensive than shipping some‐
thing by truck. We need to create an apples-to-apples comparison to
determine which is a more dangerous mode.

The problem with rail is that it's a point source of pollution. It's
like when a plane goes down. That makes international news, but
we know that people die in car crashes way more often. No one
gets freaked out about stepping into a car, but everyone has angst
about stepping into a plane even though it's a much safer thing. Ex‐
actly the same analogy can be drawn about rail.

We should absolutely be shipping things in the safest way possi‐
ble, and we should also be wending our concepts of safety into cli‐
mate. For the foreseeable future, until we reach a low-carbon or a
zero-carbon environment decades in the future, we will be shipping
energy products that are carbon intensive, and we should do that in
the least carbon-intensive and safest way possible.

If you're asking me as a Calgarian, and a Calgarian who is very
environmentally forward, to talk about shipping, I think that ship‐
ping by rail, in terms of chemical products and petroleum and gas,
is definitely—

● (1710)

Mr. Dan Muys: Let me ask a question of Mr. Isaak before my
time is up.

You talked about fatigue management. I don't think we've talked
enough about that. That's obviously important to rail safety. Can
you elaborate more on what you talked about in terms of best prac‐
tices you'd like to see, what Transport Canada has done, what
Transport Canada has not done, and what we should be looking at
going forward?

Mr. Lyndon Isaak: The big gap that you're referring to in the
work-rest rules right now is that they're in a three-year incorpora‐
tion. That's how Transport Canada designed them. We're not going
to know the complete impact until three-plus years from now.

The fatigue management plans, we were told, were going to ad‐
dress the shortfalls in the work-rest rules approved by Transport
Canada. We were supposed to be included in this process with the
carriers. That didn't really happen. I believe that Transport Canada
is going to reject the draft fatigue management plans put forward.
The plans are very incomplete, from what I've seen.
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We are hoping that with our input we can make those fatigue
management plans much more robust, and cover off the shortfalls
that currently exist.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Muys.

I will now turn it over to Mr. Chahal, for six minutes.
Mr. George Chahal (Calgary Skyview, Lib.): Thank you, Mr.

Chair. I'm going to split my time with my colleague, Jaime Battiste.

As the member for Calgary Skyview, I have heavy rail. CP Rail
runs right through my constituency. I have a CN line on the edge. I
have the Blue Line, with high passenger-pedestrian use. The Green
Line is also being built. Rail safety is extremely important for my
constituents and all Calgarians.

Councillor Carra, you talked a lot in your presentation about cli‐
mate change, climate action, land use, planning and practices. What
are some of the best land use and planning practices that promote
commercial and residential development in our communities, and
provide community safety?

Mr. Gian-Carlo Carra: It's been proven across North America
for the last three decades. The fiscal, climate and social challenges
of the automobile-scaled city were identified, and we started mov‐
ing more toward transit-oriented development. The reality is that
public investment in transit infrastructure is the single biggest driv‐
er of tax base, walkability, climate action, social inclusion and so‐
cial equity.

Your cousin, the minister of transportation for the UCP govern‐
ment, recently spoke, and it was a really amazing turn. She said that
access to mobility and transit is a social determinant of health,
which was a really refreshing thing to hear from a UCP minister.

We know this is true. Whether we're talking about regional rail
solutions between Calgary and Edmonton, whether we're talking
about being able to step off a plane and take primary transit to any
destination in the city, or whether we're talking about being able to
visit the mountains in Calgary with a Calgary to Banff train, we
know this creates incredible value. It's very marketable, but it's also
an incredibly climate-forward way to go.

Does that answer the question you were going to ask?
Mr. George Chahal: It does, and I really appreciate your men‐

tioning the opportunities for connections to Edmonton from my
constituency and the mountains. The hub would be right in my con‐
stituency.

Before I pass it over to my colleague, Councillor Carra, when we
think about the impacts of climate change.... We saw a devastating
hailstorm hit my constituency, and there were floods in 2013, the
same year as the Lac-Mégantic disaster.

Can you tell us about the impact of the floods in 2013 on our rail
infrastructure and on the safety of Calgarians? What have we done
to improve that, and can you also tell us about your role on the
emergency management committee?

Mr. Gian-Carlo Carra: There is a lot to answer there.

Climate change is going to affect every ecosystem in Canada in a
very different way. We are on a high-plains desert in Calgary and a
river runs through our community that is 160 kilometres from its

glacial source. The Bow River is one of the hardest-working water
courses in Canada. It's 4% of the fresh water in the province of Al‐
berta and it supports 40% of the population and a tremendous
amount of our industry.

We know that as we move into climate change we are going to
see more extreme weather events like the hailstorm that buffeted
Calgary—and unfortunately saved its biggest hailstones for George
Chahal's riding—and also increased incidence of both flooding and
drought. In 2013, as you know, we got hammered by the flood. I
think it's now only fourth in the most costly natural disasters in
Canadian history.

One of the things that happened is that our rail bridge collapsed.
What we are working on now to protect Calgary, and the economic
engine and the engine of opportunity that it is, long into an uncer‐
tain future, is upstream mitigation. The federal government has
generously supported SR1, a flood protection upstream dry reser‐
voir on the Elbow River reach, and now we are turning our atten‐
tion to the Bow River. We have plans at a much greater cost than
SR1 to create a wet dam that will both serve as flood mitigation for
the city of Calgary and really protect the city and all its critical in‐
frastructure systems such as the rail, as well as protect us from
drought, which is going to be just as nasty an occurrence on this
high-plains desert that we've situated ourselves on.

● (1715)

Mr. George Chahal: Jaime.

Mr. Jaime Battiste (Sydney—Victoria, Lib.): Mr. Carra, just
quickly, you mentioned that rail must play a renewed role in
Canada. I believe that's something we need to do from coast to
coast.

Moving forward, Canadians support a green economy. I've heard
especially from Scotia Rail Development Society, which has been a
strong advocate for green transit in my riding. I think one of the
things you have mentioned is that rail is much better for the envi‐
ronment than other means, like trucking.

I wonder if you could speak a bit about how we could balance
the important need to seek green and smart technology and the po‐
tential safety concerns they cause.

Mr. Gian-Carlo Carra: The safety issues associated with rail
are very much like the environmental issues associated with rail. It
is a point source of pollution, absolutely, and we have to make sure
that we green that point source of pollution and we have to make
sure that as we cluster development around the rail we're a lot more
thoughtful about how we do that.
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It's a lot like a highway. If the standard rule is that nothing can be
built within 200 feet of the rail, you have a big distance of valuable
real estate that is a dead zone. However, if you treat it more like
highway engineers do, highways do not have barriers and fences
along every stretch, but they do on curves; and where you could go
off a rail, they do armour that bank. They have different and varied
speed limits, because in some places, derailment or going off the
highway could occur more.

You really have to create an environment that's much more
catered to the environment. Setting things back in lower-density, ru‐
ral environments makes a ton of sense, but when you come into big
cities and towns, the urge to segregate is an old-school approach.
The urge to integrate is going to be critical to a climate-forward and
safety-forward approach. You have to develop an approach to safe‐
ty that's critical to that.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Chahal and Mr. Battiste.
[Translation]

Mr. Barsalou-Duval, you have the floor for six minutes.
Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

My first question is for Mr. Carra.

Mr.  Carra, I was very interested in what you said about the com‐
munication problems that exist between municipalities and railway
companies.

Municipalities in my riding complain about it too. They feel
helpless when they see that railroad companies don't meet their de‐
mands or their requests.

It's as though railway companies had the power of life and death
over everything. This is especially frustrating because citizens ask
elected officials to be accountable for those demands. At the end of
the line, when it comes to railway companies, we hit a wall. Citi‐
zens' frustration increases when they realize that elected officials
are not able to get things moving.

Mr. Carra, has the city of Calgary experienced the same kind of
situation?
● (1720)

[English]
Mr. Gian-Carlo Carra: Yes. I have massively, a lot. I share the

frustrations of your constituents.

I would suggest to you that the current relationship between mu‐
nicipalities and the railroad is one that's based on unhelpful con‐
flict. The understanding is that the business of railroading is essen‐
tial to the success of the nation and that it is in fundamental opposi‐
tion to the project of living well within a community. I think that if
we reject that fundamental framework and suggest that these two
projects are fundamental to our long-term success, then we need to
build a different framework that responds to that. That is fully with‐
in the federal government's purview.

Communities and railroads would be more willing to work to‐
gether if their relationship weren't precast as oppositional, but if it
were understood that the success of both was fundamental. I can
point to so many other places in planning where previous opposi‐

tions have been recast in the emerging world as actually being in
each other's same best interests.

[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: That brings me to the next ques‐
tion.

In your opinion, would it be relevant to review the legislative
framework to add a minimal level of accountability for railway
companies, or to require them to work with municipalities, which
does not seem to be the case right now?

[English]

Mr. Gian-Carlo Carra: There has to be a much more collabora‐
tive environment established. Railroads would be more willing to
come to the table if it were understood that their success is a munic‐
ipality's success, rather than their being fundamentally in opposi‐
tion.

There are still conversations ongoing today. There are dreams of
taking the CP rail mainline outside of the city of Calgary and just
bypassing the city, at the cost of literally billions of dollars that they
don't have. I think it's to the long-term significant detriment of the
city of Calgary if we're talking about a lower-carbon future.

The current legislation is based on mutual incompatibility. If we
built a new framework that understood the essential role that both
play in each other's success, you would find a better way forward
for both municipalities and the railroad. If we try to give more of an
upper hand to one or the other in a conflict-based system, you will
see a lot of push-back from both sides and more conflict.

[Translation]

Mr. Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you very much.

Mr. Isaak, in your presentation, you spoke of a certain incon‐
gruity that still exists today in the world of rail. Railway companies
actually have their own police and lead their own internal investiga‐
tions.

Has your organization had discussions with Transport Canada
about this?

Can you tell me more about the reasons that make this a prob‐
lem?

Have you gotten the impression that Transport Canada or other
stakeholders you've spoken with were somewhat open minded?

[English]

Mr. Lyndon Isaak: On the issue of the private or corporate po‐
lice forces that both CN and CP currently use, we haven't really dis‐
cussed that a lot with Transport Canada. We would have to rely on
a legislative change to the Railway Safety Act in order to either
change their jurisdictions or curb their powers.
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The whole history of the Field Hill investigation has been felt
over the last three years, with TSB investigators coming forward
and talking about the need for an independent investigation and for
the RCMP to look into this. The fact is that when CP had their cor‐
porate police investigated, they said there was no liability on CP's
part. Just that alone should tell us what the issue is.

I can't think of any other place where a body investigates itself.
The rail police forces are something that came out at the beginning
of the railroads back in the 1800s. Their powers and jurisdictions
should have been curbed decades ago.

It's absolutely mind-blowing to me that they investigate them‐
selves for responsibility, when we have our members dying. It's
crazy.
● (1725)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Isaak.
[Translation]

Thank you very much, Mr. Barsalou-Duval.
[English]

The remaining six minutes goes to Mr. Bachrach.

The floor is yours.
Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair, and

thank you to all of our witnesses for your time today.

I have some questions for Mr. Apps. Thank you for your presen‐
tation.

To start, why was Kitselas First Nation in a place where it felt it
had to perform its own safety assessment at what I assume was con‐
siderable expense?

Mr. Chris J. Apps: The decision was certainly a strategic one
for a lot of reasons. Most saliently, the community observed the
growth in rail traffic in the area due to, obviously, growing and in‐
dustrial development. We also saw interest groups beyond other
first nations in the region starting to voice their concern.

Kitselas is engaged on a bunch of these projects. A lot of them
have rail components, so we've gotten to know them throughout the
consultations around these projects. We began to grow frustrated at
the fact that these significant aspects were not being assessed or in‐
corporated into federal or provincial assessments.

The way we saw it, the cumulative growth in traffic could only
lead to a greater probability of disasters. We knew that quantitative
risk assessments were legally required for large-scale industrial
projects. We had seen that shipping assessments were undertaken
for marine shipping. TERMPOL studies had gone from a sort of
honorary system to a standard expectation.

We asked ourselves why this wasn't similarly done for incoming
cargo on rail. That fact, in conjunction with the recommendations
from Dr. Shandro's report, really led us to do the study.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: When the leadership of Kitselas First Na‐
tion received these independent studies and read their contents, did
the contents of those risk assessments give the leadership a sense

that rail transport through their communities was safe or did it raise
significant concerns?

Mr. Chris J. Apps: It was validating to get the information and
hear these findings, knowing that we are on the precipice of some‐
thing and that growth is coming. It's one of those multi-faceted
things where we know there are a bunch of things at play.

Kitselas looks at the industrial development in the region as a re‐
ally big opportunity, but it also needs to know that its community
members are kept safe. How do we balance that?

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: You mentioned earlier that the environ‐
mental assessments for the port expansions and the terminal
projects on the coast do not include within their scope the rail trans‐
port.

Should that change? If so, how?

Mr. Chris J. Apps: It's definitely something that needs to
change. We're doing all sorts of scoping and analysis on all sorts of
effects from these projects, big and small. Our 2019 determinants
of health report was a part of these studies. The potential of the ef‐
fects resulting from increased traffic, both real and possible, as well
as environmental and socio-economic, are not assessed or ad‐
dressed in any legislation.

In our experience, the rationale for including that into the scope
relates to a lack of jurisdiction. Proponents typically lack care and
control over products being transported by rail. The province has to
defer to Transport Canada's as the lead regulator of transportation,
but Transport Canada's legislation and regulations exclusively gov‐
ern safe operation of traffic, typically in the form of these emergen‐
cy response plans—the ERAPs.

The potential impacts resulting from these, including increased
noise, wildlife strikes, air emissions and impediments to access for
community members to vital sources, like the river where they're
fishing, are all overlooked.

For Kitselas and many other communities in this area—both in‐
digenous and otherwise—that are intersected by the rail, this repre‐
sents a huge regulatory gap for our community.

● (1730)

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Mr. Apps, I have one more question here.

I know that when the volume of liquid propane shipped through
the rail corridor increased significantly, it triggered a federal regula‐
tion called “key trains and key routes”. This required the railroad
company to conduct its own risk assessment.

Did the rail company consult Kitselas on that risk assessment?
Have you ever received consultation on rail risk, either by the fed‐
eral government or the rail company?
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Mr. Chris J. Apps: The short answer is no. Consultation,
whether it has a big “C” or a small “c”, has a lot of implications,
especially in 2022. However, we were informed that we would be
able to be a participant in that process. It was very difficult for us to
go through, because we had an opportunity to submit a letter and
provide input, and we were informed that CN had a website that we
could submit our comments.

My team and I drafted a response to flag and say we would like
to participate as a nation that's affected as a stakeholder on this line,
because we know that this key route assessment is going to be un‐
dertaken. However, once we went to submit it, we were limited to
500 characters, so we were more or less “tweeting” our request to
be included in the consultative process. We submitted that and nev‐
er received a response.

I will be including both a screenshot and the letter that we want‐
ed to submit in our briefing note to the committee.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Thank you, Mr. Apps.

This is my last question for you. When you talk to the rail com‐
panies, how would you characterize their engagement with first na‐
tions along the rail corridor? Would you say that they've been re‐
sponsive to the concerns that are raised by these first nations and
first nations communities?

Mr. Chris J. Apps: I would say that it's extremely difficult for
them to be responsive. Their response has been hot and cold over
the course of my tenure working with Kitselas and trying to engage
with CN.

I am unaware of their staffing abilities and their ability to reach
out and discuss across the line. Indigenous groups becoming more
and more aware of the risks and threats that are posed by the rail
represents a very scary reality for CN.

No, the relationship-building process has not been a truly consul‐
tative one, particularly in this regard.

Mr. Taylor Bachrach: Thank you very much, Mr. Apps.

Mr. Chair, I have one question for Mr. Isaak, if I may.

Mr. Isaak, you spoke to some of the concerns around the fact that
railways have private, corporate police forces that investigate them
when there are major accidents, including those involving fatalities.
You alluded to the need for that situation to change dramatically in
the future.

How important is it that legislative change is made to ensure ac‐
countability for rail disasters? What would that legislation look like
to make the investigations into these accidents more accountable,
more transparent and more effective?

The Chair: Give a short response, please, Mr. Isaak. Thank you.
Mr. Lyndon Isaak: It's extremely important. We have three dead

people at the bottom of Field Hill because of what, so far, has been
described as brake failure. Like I said, we still haven't received the
TSB final report, but that's their initial take on it.

We have had something like 12 fatalities in the last three years
across Canada in the rail industry. I don't know in what world we
think a railway company is going to investigate and find itself crim‐
inally liable in court. What world are we living in?

This is going to require an amendment to section 44 of the Rail‐
way Safety Act to curb or change the jurisdiction and the power of
these corporate police forces. That's what it's going to take.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Isaak.

If you want to expand on your response, we encourage you to
submit the response in writing.

I would like to thank you all, colleagues, for your thoughtful
questions and to thank our witnesses on behalf of all committee
members for your testimony today. That concludes today's meeting.

The committee is now adjourned.
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